2010-4-00582-T

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned Counsel of Record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or refusal:

- 1. Percy D. Hester, Sr., Defendant-Appellant;
- 2. Sundra Samples; Plaintiff-Appellee;
- 3. E. Michael Marks and Julie Ann Epps, counsel for Appellant on appeal;
- 4. E. Michael Marks, counsel for Appellant at trial;
- 5. Donald W. Boykin, counsel for Appellee at trial and on appeal;
- 6. H. David Clark, II, Chancellor

This, the 18th day of October, 2010.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

1.THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN NOT ADMITTING SUNDRA'S TEXAS AFFIDAVIT INTO EVIDENCE AT THE HEARING ON THE MOTION TO RECONSIDER. BECAUSE THE CHANCELLOR FAILED TO DO SO, HE ERRED IN OVERRULING PERCY'S MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION.

2. THIS COURT SHOULD REFORM THE JUDGMENT BECAUSE THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN THE ORIGINAL FINAL JUDGMENT WHEN HE FAILED TO AWARD PERCY CREDIT FOR THE \$897.00 HE PAID FOR RENT WHEN PRISCILLA WAS LIVING AT AN APARTMENT IN 2006.

3. THE CHANCELLOR ALSO ERRED AS A MATTER OF LAW IN FAILING TO GIVE PERCY CREDIT FOR THE MONEY HE PAID DIRECTLY TO PRISCILLA FOR HER RENT AND EXPENSES AFTER SHE WAS KICKED OUT OF SUNDRA'S HOME IN NOVEMBER OF 2004 UNTIL SHE WENT TO LIVE WITH PERCY IN JUNE OF 2005. ALTERNATIVELY, PERCY SHOULD HAVE BEEN GIVEN CREDIT OF \$200.00 A MONTH FOR THOSE MONTHS WHEN PRISCILLA WAS EFFECTIVELY IN HIS CUSTODY.

4. THE CHANCELLOR FURTHER ERRED IN NOT GIVING PERCY CREDIT ON ANY ARREARAGE FOR THE MONEY HE PAID TOWARD PRISCILLA'S COLLEGE TUITION.

5. THIS COURT SHOULD AWARD PERCY ATTORNEY'S FEES AND COSTS FOR THIS APPEAL AND SHOULD REMAND FOR A HEARING ON APPROPRIATE SANCTIONS TO BE IMPOSED ON SUNDRA AND/OR HER COUNSEL FOR ATTORNEY'S FEES AND OTHER COSTS INCURRED BY PERCY AS A RESULT OF SUNDRA'S PERJURY AND THE MISCONDUCT OF HER ATTORNEY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

(i) Course of the Proceedings and Dispositions in the Court Below:

Percy D. Hester, Sr. and Sundra Samples¹ were married on February 28, 1992 in Hinds County and were divorced in Newton County in November of 1992. R.I/8. They had one child, Priscilla Hester, who was born on August 4, 1988. R.I/8. The final judgment of divorce gave primary legal and physical custody of Priscilla to Sundra and required Percy to pay \$200.00 a month beginning in May of 1992 as support for Priscilla. R.I/8-9. Around September of 2007, Sundra went to the Texas Attorney General's office to seek assistance in obtaining past due child support payments she claimed she had not received from Percy. Exhibit 13id, RE 35. That case was subsequently referred to the Mississippi Department of Human Services (DHS) for action. DHS filed a notice of redirection of child support payments on June 4, 2008. R.I/22.

Thereafter, on September 9, 2009, DHS filed a contempt petition on behalf of DHS claiming that Samples had received services under Title IV-D of the Social Security Act and Department of Human Services. DHS alleged Percy owed past child support. R.I/25-28. The case was set before Special Master Norman Brown and continued several times for DHS to produce an affidavit from Sundra from Texas. R.I/44-45.

Subsequently on July 22, 2009, the Chancellor allowed DHS to withdraw their suit and allowed Sundra to refile a contempt petition in her own name. R.I/37, 39-40.

Sundra hired her former divorce attorney, Donald W. Boykin, to represent her, and on August 14th of 2009, she filed a new petition for contempt in her name asking for child support payments and other payments she claimed she had not received from Percy. R.I/74-78.

The case went to trial on the merits on November 3, 2009. Sundra was represented by Donald Boykin. Percy was represented by E. Michael Marks. Tr. 49. The final judgment was entered on November 20, 2009. RE 9, R.I/95.

In that judgment, the Chancellor awarded Sundra \$23,761.00 for unpaid child support for the portions of the time period from May 1, 1992 through December 31, 2006, the date the Chancellor found that the child had become emancipated. RE 15, R.I/92-95. In addition, he awarded Sundra attorney's fees of \$2500.00. R.I/95, RE 9.

¹ Before the divorce, Sundra moved to Texas where she still lives. She then married Dwayne Samples in 1992 after the divorce. Tr. 54.

Immediately thereafter, Nicole Bryan, the attorney for DHS who had filed the initial contempt petition, faxed E. Michael Marks a copy of an affidavit signed by Sundra in Texas on September 11, 2007. RE 34, Exhibit 13id. The affidavit contradicted Sundra's trial testimony that she had not received *any* child support payments from Percy from May of 1992 until 2004. Consequently, on November 25, 2009, Percy filed a Motion for Reconsideration of Final Judgment. R.I/98-99.

Sundra filed a response to that motion on March 11, 2010, the date of the hearing on the motion to reconsider. R.I/116. At the March 11th hearing, the Chancellor ruled that the Texas affidavit was inadmissible because it did not qualify as "newly discovered evidence." RE 29. Consequently, on March 19, 2010, the Chancellor entered an order denying the motion to reconsider. R.I/137, RE 10.

Percy timely filed a Notice of Appeal from the Final Judgment and Order denying reconsideration on April 7, 2010. R.II/146-47.

(ii) Statement of the Facts:

On September 9, 2008, DHS filed a contempt petition alleging that Percy was in arrears in child support in the sum of \$18,850.00 as of June 30, 2008, as evidenced by an "affidavit" attached as Exhibit B.² R.I/25. In the petition, DHS alleged that Sundra had received services under Title IV-D of the Social Security Act and that DHS, therefore, was entitled to a redirection of child support. Nicole, Bryan, an attorney with the Department of Human Services, represented DHS. R.I/25-28.

Subsequently, the case was set for hearing before a special master on numerous occasions and was continued at least twice because DHS in fact did not have an affidavit from Sundra

² The affidavit, signed by an Ellen Chapman, but not Sundra, did not contain an itemized list of payments made or not made by Percy, but merely summarized the claimed arrearage as of 7/10/208 as being \$18,850.00, the amount claimed in the petition. R.I/37.

regarding past due support. R.I/44-45. Exhibit B to the petition, as it turned out, was a printout of an Affidavit signed by an Ellen Chapman in Texas. Chapman was apparently an employee of the Texas Attorney General's Office where Sundra had sought assistance to collect what she claimed was unpaid child support. R.I/37, 39-40. Not only was the affidavit not executed by Sundra, it did not contain an itemization of purported payments by Percy.

Evidence at the motion for reconsideration later demonstrated that the affidavit executed by Ms. Chapman was based on an affidavit signed by Sundra in Texas on September 11, 2007. RE 35. At some point when DHS and Percy appeared before the special master, the attorney for DHS, Nichole Bryan, represented to Marks that there was no Texas affidavit and that all she had was a letter from Texas. Tr. 302. In addition, Marks represented at the hearing on reconsideration that Tayna Carl, an employee of DHS, had also told the special master that they could not go forward because they could not obtain an affidavit. Tr. 307.

Marks first learned that in fact there was an affidavit signed by Sundra when shortly after the trial on the merits he received an unsolicited fax from Nicole Bryan containing the affidavit which had been signed in Texas by Sundra. Tr. 307.

In that affidavit, Sundra listed a total of \$19,550.00 worth of payments which she said she had been received from Percy from May of 1992 until July of 2007. RE 35. The affidavit, which was not available to counsel at trial, assumed great significance at the hearing on the motion for reconsideration because, among other things, Sundra's affidavit showed that Percy paid a total of \$11,200 from May of 1992 through December of 1996. RE 35.

In sharp contrast to the affidavit and her sworn contempt petition, Sundra testified at trial that Percy had not paid her anything at all during that time.³ Tr. 56. Percy, on the other hand, testified that he made the \$200 monthly payments from May of 1992 through June of 1998 when

4

he fell out with Sundra's husband, and the family moved and did not tell him where. Tr. 188, 225-26.

At the trial on the merits, the Chancellor credited Sundra's testimony that Percy had made no payments for either the money he said he paid or the \$11,200 which Sundra in her Texas affidavit admitted he had paid. Percy will discuss the court's findings at trial and the motion to reconsider along with the implications of Sundra's Texas affidavit further in his argument that the Chancellor erred in overruling his motion to reconsider.

To return to the events leading up to the trial and the trial itself, at some point while the DHS petition was still pending and before the trial on the merits, Sundra retained Donald W. Boykin to represent her. Boykin had been her attorney in the original divorce proceeding. DHS withdrew from the case, and on July 22, 2009, the Chancellor granted Sundra's motion to substitute her as the plaintiff rather than DHS. R.I/48, 56.

In August of 2009, Sundra filed a sworn "Petition for Contempt and Other Relief." R.I/74-78. In that Petition, she swore that Percy had failed to pay **any** child support since it had become due starting in May of 1992.⁴ Her total claim in this Petition was for \$29,061.00 in past due child support from May of 1992 through August of 2008, the date she claimed Priscilla was emancipated. Sundra also asked for other costs, such as medical insurance and expenses and prekindergarten and kindergarten costs and attorney's fees. *Id.* Because the Chancellor ultimately denied Sundra's claims for these additional costs, other than the attorney's fees, and she has not appealed that denial, Percy will not further discuss those claims.

³ Sundra likewise swore in her August of 2008 petition for contempt that Percy paid no money at all ever. Tr. 78.

⁴ By contrast, in the Texas affidavit, she had stated that Percy had paid a total of \$19,550.00, which included the \$11,200.00 she said he paid from May of 1992 through December of 1996, and additional amount of \$1000.00 she said he paid in 2004, \$2400.00 in 2005 and \$2500.00 in 2006 and \$2450.00 she said he paid in 2007. RE 35.

At the hearing on the trial on the merits, the evidence showed that after her separation from Percy, Sundra and Priscilla moved to Texas in 1992. Shortly after the divorce, Sundra married Dwayne Samples, and they lived thereafter at several different residences in Texas. Thereafter, Percy continued to visit with Priscilla until June of 1998 when Percy and Dwayne had a falling out when Percy went to pick up Priscilla for the summer. Tr. 141-44, RE 11. According to Percy, Dwayne accused Percy of still wanting Sundra and trying to control his family by paying child support. Tr. 144. Shortly thereafter, Dwayne, Sundra and Priscilla moved to an undisclosed address. Tr. 145.

According to Percy, he timely paid all of his child support to Sundra until they moved in June of 1998. Tr. 188, 225-26. Any money he "sent" to Sundra in Texas, he paid by Western Union MoneyGram. Tr. 141-42. He testified, however, that he also gave her cash when he would go to Texas to see Priscilla. Tr. 225-26. However, he was not able to produce Western Union receipts for the payments because Western Union only maintained records going back five years. Tr. 213. He did produce MoneyGram receipts for payments made both to Priscilla and to Sundra in the latter part of 2004 through April of 2008. *See*, Exhibit 12, RE 36-42. The Chancellor gave him credit for \$10,439.00 the payments made to Sundra during that time, but not for any payments made directly to Priscilla because he found that legally Sundra still had custody of Priscilla even though Priscilla, for the most part did not live with Sundra after November of 2004. Tr. 247, 253, RE 16.

Percy testified that even after the move, he sent at least three more child support payments via Western Union MoneyGram, but they were not picked up by Sundra. Western Union called and let him know that nobody had picked them up. Tr. 226-27. Percy testified that he had searched and searched for Sundra and Priscilla, even going to Texas on several occasions, and consulting several attorneys, but he had been unable to find them. Tr. 145, 188, 190.

Finally, in the latter part of October of 2004 or the first part of November of 2004, Sundra contacted Percy to let him know that she and Dwayne had been having problems with Priscilla and had kicked her out of the home. She screamed at him to come get Priscilla and take her back to Mississippi. Percy went to Texas and arranged for Priscilla to stay with Sundra. A week later he got a all from Sundra that things had fallen apart and they had put Priscilla out again. Tr. 145-47.

Percy then arranged for Priscilla to stay with a friend, Maria, and Maria's mother so that Priscilla could complete the school year in Texas. He sent money directly to Priscilla to pay her rent and other expenses while she was living with Maria and Maria's mother. Tr. 145-47. The Chancellor found that Priscilla had indeed lived there from November of 2005 through May of 2005, when she went to live with Percy in Mississippi, but he did not give Percy any credit for the money he paid to Priscilla for her support during that time. RE 12.

The MoneyGram history confirmed that on December 2, 2004, Percy indeed sent \$200.00 directly to Priscilla. On December 10, 2004, he sent her an additional \$50.00, on December 12, 2004, an additional 180.00 and on December 30, 2004 an additional 200.00. In January of 2005, he sent \$450.00 directly to Priscilla, in February \$250.00, in March \$470.00, in April \$265.00, in May \$295.00. These amounts were in addition to the money he paid directly to Sundra. RE 36-42.

The reasonable inference to be drawn from these payments made directly to Priscilla is that Percy was making them so that she could indeed pay rent to Maria's mother and pay for other expenses while she was living with Maria's mother. An additional inference that can be drawn is that Percy was more than willing to support his daughter providing money to her which was far in excess of what he was obligated to pay under the child support agreement. The large sums of money that Percy sent to both Priscilla and Sundra from December of 2004 further supports the notion that Sundra indeed hid Priscilla from him after June of 1998 until November of 2004 as he testified.

In January of 2005, Sundra and Percy signed a document provided by Longview Independent School District in Texas stating that both Percy and Sundra acknowledged that Priscilla had established a residence separate and apart from her. RE 12. Percy testified that he believed that in acknowledging that Sundra was no longer living with her, Sundra was in effect agreeing that he could pay support directly to Priscilla. Tr. 167-69.

Notwithstanding, the agreement, Percy made substantial payments by MoneyGram directly to Sundra in 2005 and 2006 for what he described as paying back the money he owed for the time he did not know where they were. Tr. 160. These payments were the \$10, 439.00, Sundra ultimately at trial admitted she had been paid and the Chancellor gave Percy credit for paying.

The Chancellor, however, did not give Percy any credit for the payments he made directly to Priscilla for expenses from December of 2004 through May of 2005 even though he found that Priscilla lived with Maria and Maria's mother from November of 2004 through May of 2005 and not with Sundra. RE 12.

In May of 2005 after school was out, Percy went back to Texas and picked up Priscilla who stayed with him through the summer. In September of 2005, he took her back to Texas because she wanted to finish high school there. Her mother took her back at that time. However, in October, Dwayne and Sundra put Priscilla out again. Percy paid for her to stay at a motel for about a week and a half until he could get her and sort out the situation. Priscilla moved back in

8

with her mother but things fell apart again, and Sundra put Priscilla out again. Priscilla then moved to an apartment in March of 2006 which Percy paid for through the end of July of 2006. Tr. 149-50, 152, RE 242.

In August of 2006, Priscilla moved to Newton County to stay with him and go to college. She lived with him for a short time, but had difficulty obeying his rules. RE 242. Because the tuition Percy had paid for also covered room and board, she moved to a dorm at the college.⁵ Tr. 158. Percy never received any money from Sundra to pay for Priscilla's college fees. He paid all her expenses during that time. She stayed with him until the summer of 2007 when she went to Texas for the summer. She came back that fall go back to school and lived with him until October or November when he learned that she had flunked out of school in December of 2006. At that time, she moved back into Percy's house, but when he returned from a revival in St. Kitts, he discovered she had brought drugs and liquor into the house and had slept with a young man in his bed. At that point, he told her she could not stay there any longer, and she moved across town. After she got into an altercation, she moved back to Texas. Tr. 160-62, 223, 232.

At the trial on the merits, Sundra testified that Percy sent her **no** child support money from May of 1992 through January of 2005. Tr. 56. Although she had claimed in her complaint that he had paid no child support whatsoever, she finally had to admit at trial that Percy was entitled to credit for the \$10,439.00 the MoneyGram receipts show she had received as direct payments in 2005 and 2006. Tr. 61.

⁵ Exhibit 8 is a document showing Priscilla's tuition for each semester was \$1900.00. Percy testified that he did not have receipts from the college for the payments because he gave the money directly to Priscilla to pay. Apparently, Priscilla did not use the money to pay for tuition after she flunked out in December of 2006 although she continued to maintain the fiction that she was going to school in the spring semester of 2007 and the fall semester as well. She was apparently using the money Percy gave her for tuition and expenses to otherwise support herself. Percy did not actually learn that she had flunked out until the latter part of 2007. Tr. 225.

Sundra conceded that she moved a lot during the years in question and never notified the Court of those moves. She claimed she did not know she had to notify the Court of those moves. She also admitted that she never wrote Percy and told him where she was although she claimed he "knew" where she was. Tr. 94. Her excuse for not filing for child support for 17 years was that she was waiting for Percy to do the right thing. Tr. 96. She denied receiving a \$4000.00 tax refund that the IRS had seized from Percy on behalf of the Texas Attorney General for back child support and likewise denied receiving a \$600.00 payment from the government which had also been seized by the Texas Attorney General for back child support. Tr. 126. Exhibit 5 for id-

Sundra and Percy were the only two witnesses who testified at the trial.

At the hearing on the merits, the Chancellor found that Sundra had failed to prove her claims for other costs and expenses. RE 20. He found that Priscilla had become emancipated as of December of 2006, the date she flunked out of college. He, therefore, found that Percy was liable for child support payments dating from May of 1992 through December of 2006. He further found that Percy had failed to pay any child support from May of 1992 through December of 2004. R.I/75, 92.

He found that Percy had paid the amounts shown on the MoneyGrams of \$5,945.00 in 2005 and \$4,494.00 in 2006 and credited Percy accordingly for a total of \$10,439.00. He, however, denied credit to Percy for all payments he had made directly to Priscilla. He also found that Percy should be given credit for rent that he had paid on behalf of Priscilla from May of 2006 until August of 2006, but erroneously found that he had credited that sum was included in the \$10,439.00 sum. RE 19.

He also found that Percy should be given credit of \$1000.00 for the time Priscilla lived with Percy from August through December of 2006. For the 176 months between May of 1992 and December of 2006, he found that Percy owed 176 x \$200 for a total of \$35,200. After deducting the \$10,439.00 and the \$1000.00, he found that this left Percy owing Sundra \$23,761.00 in past due child support. R.I/92. RE 15-16. The Chancellor also awarded Sundra \$2500.00 for her attorney's fees. RE 20, R.I/95.

MOTION TO RECONSIDER

Immediately after the trial, Nicole Bryan faxed Percy's attorney an affidavit that Sundra had signed in 2007 when she sought assistance from the Texas Attorney General in obtaining her child support. *See*, Exhibit 13 id. The affidavit showed that from May of 1992 through December of 1996, Percy had in fact paid all the child support he owed for that time period. *Id.* This total would have been \$1,600.00 in 1992, and \$2,400.00 in each of the years of 1993, 1994, 1995 and 1996. In short, Sundra's Texas affidavit showed Percy had paid \$11,200.00 more in child support than she claimed he had paid at trial where she testified that he had paid nothing at all during those years. Tr. 56. In addition, Sundra's affidavit showed that in 2007, he had paid her an additional \$2,450.00. *See*, Exhibit 13. id. Again, at trial, Sundra testified that he had paid her an nothing in 2007. Tr. 56.

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