2010-CA-00582-E

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that no additional persons have an interest in the outcome of this case.

DONALD W. BOYKIN

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

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

Hester's attorney repeatedly argued before the trial judge that the Department of Human Services, and specifically its attorney, had either intentionally or negligently failed to provide him the affidavit. Once Samples was substituted for the Department of Human Services (DHS), DHS ceased to have any responsibility in the legal action.

Hester's attorney's argument concerning this issue consisted in large part about what DHS's attorney may have told him. Ms. Bryan, DHS's attorney, was not present, nor had she been subpoenaed or otherwise requested to attend the hearing on Hester's Motion for Reconsideration. Thus, whatever Ms. Bryan may have said, was inadmissible hearsay. Whatever Tanya Carl may have said was inadmissible as hearsay.

The trial court asked Hester's attorney if there had been any effort before the trial to obtain the affidavit. Hester's attorney said "representations" had been made by DHS's attorney that its file had been turned over to Sample's attorney. The trial court noted that if that were true, then DHS's attorney would have to testify to that. (T. 295, 296).

During the hearing on Hester's Motion for Reconsideration, Hester's attorney argued that when the trial was initially set, the trial judge's Family Master, who at that time was assigned to the case, told DHS the trial could not proceed without an affidavit from Texas. Hester's attorney argued that DHS's attorney said the affidavit did not exist. But again, there is nothing in the record to substantiate what Hester's attorney argued. Again, DHS's attorney was not present at the hearing on the Motion for Reconsideration, nor had she been subpoenaed or otherwise requested to be at the hearing.

Hester's attorney said DHS sought a continuance when the hearing was initially set. (T. 303). The record shows that it was Hester who sought the initial continuance. The Order for Continuance, dated September 17, 2008, said the hearing was continued so that Hester could have his attorney present. (C.P. 39). Subsequently, on December 16, 2008, Hester filed his Motion to Continue the Case, because his attorney had a conflict. (C.P. 42) However, the Order for Continuance, dated December 18, 2008, says for some reason not stated in the record, that the continuance

was granted on the motion of DHS. After that the hearing was twice continued upon the motion of DHS.

As Samples's attorney informed the trial judge, Hester never propounded a request for production of documents. (T. 282). That is verified by Hester's Notice of Service of Discovery, which shows that he only propounded interrogatories. (C.P. 61). No subpoena duces tecum was issued to the Department of Human Services or any Texas State Agency.

Thus, Hester failed to prove that the affidavit was discovered following the trial. Another requirement for Hester to show the affidavit was newly discovered evidence is that he used due diligence to discover the evidence. Obviously, Hester failed to satisfy that requirement, particularly considering he stated he knew about the affidavit prior to trial and had Exhibit 3 I.D.

For a new hearing to have been granted, Hester also had to show that the purported newly discovered evidence would probably have produced a new result. <u>Goode v. Synergy Corp.</u>, 852 So. 2d 661 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003), cert. denied, 848 So. 2d 899 (Miss. 2003). Hester suggests that Samples committed perjury, and therefore the trial judge had the option to dismiss Samples's case. In support of that proposition, Hester cites <u>Trim</u> v. <u>Trim</u>, 33 So. 3d 471 (Miss. 2010). In that case, this Court held that the intentional filing of a false Rule 8.05 Financial Statement constituted a fraud on the court. Other than her Petition, Samples filed no document

with the Court. Hester did not provide the Court with any documentary evidence to refute Samples's testimony, and that is because he had none.

Hester said that Samples's delay in taking action resulted in Hester's purported MoneyGram receipts being no longer available. Hester never provided any proof that any MoneyGram receipts or documents for the period 1992 through 1998 ever existed. Nothing in the record shows that any subpoena duces tecum was served on MoneyGram. The subpoena duces tecum to MoneyGram only asked for documents back to 2004. (C.P. 80-89). Exhibit 4, the MoneyGram International Transaction History Request, states that the report range dates are January, 2003 to May, 2008. Thus, MoneyGram apparently researched its records concerning payments made by Hester going back to at least January, 2003, but found his first MoneyGram payment was made December 2, 2004, and that was not to Samples.

Samples's interrogatories to Hester asked him to state what payments of child support he had made to Samples, including the date of payment, whether the payment was hand-delivered or mailed, to whom payment was made and whether Hester had a receipt for the payment. Hester's only response to that interrogatory was, "See documents attached." (T. 275). Hester's attorney responded that the only proof of payment and only document attached was the MoneyGram Report. Thus, Hester's responses to the interrogatory further verify that he made no payments to Samples prior to 2005.

Hester had testified that he did not know where Samples lived from May, 1998 through October, 2004. Thus, he would not have known where to send any child support payments during that time period. (T. 180). Hester further testified that money paid with MoneyGrams was not his money, but that of the church. When asked about the source of the MoneyGram payments, Hester said:

Q. All that money you paid out in MoneyGrams receipts, that was your money and nobody elses money?

A. No, Sir, that money was church money. (T. 192).

Thus, Hester cannot say that it was his money which was paid to Samples through MoneyGram. Samples did not have to give Hester credit for the MoneyGram payments shown as being sent to her, because the MoneyGram report was not sufficient legal evidence of her receipt of the money, and it was not sufficient legal evidence that Hester's money was used to make the payment. He wants credit for payments he purportedly made to Priscilla, but again, he testified that those payments were not even his money. Hester wanted to be given credit for a payment purportedly made to East Central Community College, but he admitted that he did not make any payment to East Central Community College, but gave the money to Priscilla. (T. 205). If anyone committed fraud on the Court, or perjury, it was Hester.

ISSUE II

THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR IN THE FINAL JUDGMENT WHEN HE FAILED TO AWARD HESTER CREDIT FOR THE \$897.00 HE PURPORTEDLY PAID FOR RENT WHEN PRISCILLA WAS LIVING AT AN APARTMENT IN 2006

The trial court was referring to MoneyGrams sent directly to Samples, which were used to pay rent in March, April and May, 2006. Samples testified that she was giving Hester credit for those amounts for which he had paid directly to her by MoneyGram. (T.126). The Final Judgment listed the payments for which Hester was given credit by the trial court, and Hester's attorney signed the Final Judgment agreeing as to its form. Thus, Hester is procedurally barred from stating that the Judgment was in error in not including other payments which may have been made by Hester.

Hester failed to acknowledge that the trial judge gave him credit for the money he paid for rent. In its opinion, the trial judge referred to Priscilla living in an apartment from March, 2006 to August, 2006, and that Hester paid for the rent. The trial court stated:

> He testified he sent money to do that, and that money is credited in this 10,439 that we referenced. We have already given him credit for that. (T.248).

The Final Judgment of Divorce-Irreconcilable Differences awarded Hester visitation with Priscilla during the months of June, July and August when school was not in session. (C.P. 17). The trial judge noted that Hester was not entitled to credit against his child support for his visitation periods. (T. 247).

ISSUE III

HESTER SHOULD NOT RECEIVE CREDIT FOR THE MONEY HE PURPORTEDLY PAID DIRECTLY TO PRISCILLA FOR HER RENT AND EXPENSES IN NOVEMBER, 2004 UNTIL JUNE, 2005, NOR RECEIVE ANY OTHER CREDIT.

Hester wants credit he purportedly made to Priscilla. All of those payments were purportedly made by MoneyGram. Hester offered no evidence that Priscilla received any of the purported payments. Priscilla was not called to testify as to whether she received any of the purported payments, nor to testify as to the purpose of the payments. Hester has cited no legal authority stating that a mere list of purported payments is sufficient proof of those payments. The MoneyGram list was not even verified. (Exhibit 12). Notably, Hester suggested he made some form of child support payments prior to December 2, 2004, the first entry on Exhibit 12; however, Exhibit 12 states "Report Range Dates: January, 2003 - May, 2008. Thus, Exhibit 12 shows that even if it is accurate and authentic, Hester made no MoneyGram payments prior to December 2, 2004. Not even an original of the MoneyGram report was introduced into evidence. In addressing the issue of proof of payment, the Court in Dorr v. Dorr, 797 So. 2d 1008 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) said:

> The Rules of Evidence of this State declare that in order "[t]o prove the content of a original writing... writing..., the is required, except as otherwise provided by law." M.R.E. 1002. Rule 1003 permits the use of a duplicate in certain circumstances. Rule 1004 permits other evidence of the contents of a writing only if all originals have been lost or destroyed, or no original can be obtained available judicial by any process or procedure.

<u>Dorr</u> held that a chancellor erred in accepting a check register a proof of payment of child support payment.

Hester claims Samples's Petition should have been dismissed, because of her allegedly committing perjury, or Hester should be given credit for whatever payments he claims he made from May, 1992 through June, 1998 or from May, 1992 through December, 1996. In essence, Hester wants the best of both worlds. Particularly, he wants the Court to use Exhibit 3 I.D. or the Texas affidavit in giving him credit for that period of time, but wants the Court to use the MoneyGram report for all other times. The MoneyGram report shows that his first MoneyGram payment to Samples was sent February 13, 2005, and the last on June 5, 2006. Hester's Brief says, "There can be no doubt that the MoneyGram history more

accurately reflects Percy's payments than does the Affidavit." (Brief of Appellant, p. 14). Thus, by Hester's own admission, the affidavit he wanted the trial judge to consider was inaccurate. The trial judge highlighted numerous discrepancies in the affidavit. (T. 215-217). Again, based on Hester's responses to Samples's interrogatories and requests for documents, the only payments he made were as reflected on the MoneyGram statements. The affidavit shows that of December 5, 2006, the month in which the trial judge said Priscilla was emancipated, the balance owed in child support was \$18,100.00. Thus, it is obvious that Hester wants the Court to use the portions of multiple documents which benefit him. As the trial court noted, the amount for 2005 and 2006 for which Samples was willing to give Hester credit exceeded

the amount shown on the affidavit, Exhibit 3 I.D. Clearly, the only document the Court could have considered as being accurate was the MoneyGram statement. As stated previously, Hester could not even testify that the MoneyGram payments sent to Samples was his money. He said it was the church's money. Even if the affidavit, of Exhibit 3 I.D., was relevant, by Hester's own admission, it was confusing and misleading, and therefore, could be excluded as evidence. M.R.E. 403.

Hester argues that the inaccuracy of the affidavit, and that the trial judge believed it was "somebody's estimate," is not sufficient justification to not allow the affidavit to be considered as evidence. Obviously, Hester first has to show that the affidavit was "newly discovered evidence," which by Hester's own admission, was not. However, the fact that the trial judge believed the documents contained "inaccurate information, and was otherwise somebody's estimate" falls within the realm of "confusion" and "misleading" under M.R.E. 403.

Hester says the affidavit "confirms Percy's testimony about his payments from May of 1992 through December of 1996." (Brief of Appellant, p. 15). Again, Hester's responses to Samples's interrogatories say the only payments he made were according to the MoneyGram statement, and that statement does not include any payments between May, 1992 and December, 1996.

Hester further argues that if the trial judge questioned the authenticity of the affidavit, and if that was a reason for its not

being admitted, that was an error. The authenticity of the document was not an issue before the Court during the hearing on Hester's Motion for Reconsideration.

Hester argues that Samples's attorney knowingly allowed Samples to commit perjury and a fraud on the court. Samples did not commit perjury, but, as stated previously, it appears it was Hester who may have done that. If Samples had knowingly presented to the court a false document, and that was proven, then there would have been a fraud on the court. However, as Samples's counsel informed the trial judge during the hearing on the Motion for Consideration, the affidavit was erroneous, and he explained the reason for that. Had Samples's counsel known that the affidavit was correct, but allowed Samples to testify differently, that would have been unethical and a fraud on the court. However, that was not proven, nor was it true. Samples had no legal or ethical duty to volunteer to Hester anything Samples may have said or done which may have been contradictory to her testimony. Obviously, that is one of the reasons for the discovery process, which Hester's counsel did not diligently pursue, since he failed to request any documents and failed to subpoena any documents from DHS or the State of Texas.

Hester argues that Samples should not have been awarded attorney's fees, because she came into court without "clean hands." Specifically, Hester claims that her testimony was "seriously misleading," because she testified that she had not seen Exhibit 3

I.D., the Texas Attorney General's spreadsheet. Samples was asked on cross-examination if she had seen that document before, and her response was, "No, I've never seen this one." (T. 97). After the trial judge refused admission into evidence of that document, the only other question asked of Samples about that document was whether she had "received Title IV-D funds or any other funds whatsoever through the Attorney General's Office in the State of Texas?" To that guestion, Samples again replied that she had not. (T. 95). Hester's Brief says that Samples failed "to admit the truth of that document and to reveal the affidavit at that time...." Aqain, she was never asked anything about the information on the document nor anything about an affidavit. Notably, the affidavit is dated September 11, 2007; whereas, as shown in its upper right hand corner, the Texas Attorney General's spreadsheet, Exhibit 3 I.D., is dated February 15, 2008. Exhibit 13 I.D., which includes that spreadsheet and the affidavit, also includes the original documents labeled "Financial Activity Report as of 2/17/2010." Samples was never asked about "the truth of that document." Hester's Brief also says that had Samples admitted that Exhibit 3 I.D. was based on the affidavit, it could have been admitted. However, she was never asked to compare the spreadsheet Thus, Hester's accusations about unclean with any affidavit. hands, perjury, and misleading the court, are totally without foundation.

ISSUE IV

HESTER SHOULD NOT RECEIVE CREDIT ON ANY ARREARAGE FOR ANY MONEY HE MAY HAVE PAID TOWARD PRISCILLA'S COLLEGE TUITION

Hester cites no legal authority why he should be given credit on the arrearage for any money he allegedly paid for Priscilla's college tuition or for her support. Hester is procedurally barred from his argument being considered by this Court, because of his failure to cite authority. <u>Wells</u> v. <u>Wells</u>, 35 So. 3d 1250 (Miss. Ct. App. 2010).

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